Washington State Supreme Court FEB 2 3 2016 Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk NO. <u>92805-3</u> Court of Appeals, Div. II Case No. 46378-4-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, KING COUNTY, and BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF CLARK COUNTY,

Respondents,

w

Filed

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE, WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, and ROSEMERE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION,

v.

Petitioners,

and

POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD, and WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondents below.

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE, WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, and ROSEMERE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, Washington Environmental Council, and Rosemere Neighborhood Association (collectively, "Soundkeeper"), respondents in the Court of Appeals below and intervenors in the underlying Pollution Control Hearings Board ("PCHB") appeal of the Phase I Municipal Stormwater General Permit.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, Published Opinion, dated Jan. 19, 2016. A copy of the Court's decision is included in the Appendix at A-1 (hereinafter, "Decision").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Are requirements imposed by a state agency on local governments pursuant to federal and state clean water protection laws "land use control" ordinances subject to state vesting statutes?

2. If state vesting statutes apply to federal Clean Water Act permits issued by the state, does federal law preempt their application in this case?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>The Stormwater Problem In Western Washington</u>

Stormwater pollution—runoff from roads, buildings, and other developed areas—is among the gravest threats to the ecological health of Western Washington's rivers and marine waters. *Puget Soundkeeper*

Alliance v Wash. Dep't of Ecology, 2008 WL 5510411, at *7 (PCHB, Apr. 2, 2008).¹ "Stormwater is the leading contributor to water quality pollution in urban waterways.... Stormwater discharges degrade water bodies and, consequently, impact human health, salmon habitat, drinking water, and the shellfish industry."² *Id.* The environmental status quo in Western Washington "is currently degraded, with many streams unable to support beneficial uses and even basic ecological function in large part due to stormwater runoff from developed areas." *Rosemere Neighborhood Ass'n v. Ecology*, 2011 WL 62921, at *9 (PCHB, Jan. 5, 2011).

In the decision that forms the basis of Respondents' appeal, the PCHB cited undisputed facts that runoff in Western Washington included "dangers to human health and drinking water from untreated stormwater, degradation of salmon habitat..., economic threats to the shellfish industry resulting from stormwater contamination, and overall degradation of water bodies affecting beneficial uses in Washington's waters." CR3971 at 8. Stormwater is a chief threat to the ecological health of Puget Sound, the

¹ Copies of PCHB decisions cited in this Petition are included in the Appendix, along with relevant statutory and constitutional provisions.

² This is true not just of Washington, but the nation as a whole. *See, e.g., Envtl. Def. Ctr. v. EPA*, 344 F.3d. 832, 840-41 (9th Cir. 2003) ("Stormwater runoff is one of the most significant sources of water pollution in the nation, at times 'comparable to, if not greater than, contamination from industrial and sewage sources."").

recovery of which is a high priority of the state. RCW 90.71.210 (creating Puget Sound Partnership to oversee recovery of Puget Sound by 2020).

B. <u>State and Federal Water Pollution Statutes Require Control</u> of Stormwater to Protect Water Quality

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act in 1972 ("CWA") with the sweeping goals of maintaining and restoring the "chemical, physical, and biological integrity" of the nation's waters, eliminating the discharge of pollutants, and providing for the protection of beneficial uses like fish and recreation. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a); *Pronsolino v. Nastri*, 291 F.3d 1123, 1126 (9th Cir. 2002). The goals of the state water pollution control act are just as ambitious. RCW 90.48.010 (seeking "highest possible standards to insure the purity of all waters of the state"). The heart of the CWA is the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES"), which prohibits the discharge of pollution without a permit. Permits are required to meet minimum criteria for the control and elimination of pollutants. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). Ecology has been delegated authority by the EPA to implement NPDES in Washington.

Congress amended the CWA in 1987 to address the problem of stormwater from municipal storm sewers. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p). Section 402(p) sets forth a schedule for imposition of stormwater permits for municipalities starting with the larger jurisdictions (Phase I) and

continuing with smaller ones (Phase II). Permits for municipal sewer systems "shall require controls to reduce the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent practicable..." *Id.* § 1342(p)(3). The requirement to reduce municipal stormwater discharges to the maximum extent practicable is referred to as the "MEP" standard.

State law also requires permits for stormwater discharges. Under state law, municipal stormwater discharges must be controlled by "all known, available, and reasonable methods of treatment" (the "AKART" standard), RCW 90.54.020(3)(b); must ensure compliance with water quality standards, *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. Ecology*, 2008 WL 5510411 (PCHB, April 2, 2008), at *15; and must comply with the state's robust anti-degradation policy. *Id.* at *16; WAC 173-201A-300(2).

Under this joint federal-state approach, Ecology issues permits for discharges from municipal stormwater sewer systems to the cities and counties which manage those systems. Municipalities must manage their storm sewers directly (e.g., mapping their systems, investigating illicit discharges, and educating the public) and must also regulate certain thirdparty activities to minimize pollutants in stormwater runoff (e.g., setting runoff standards for new and re-development projects).

C. <u>The PCHB Found that "Low Impact Development" Was</u> <u>Required to Meet the MEP and AKART Standards</u>

In *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. Wash. Dep't of Ecology*, 2008 WL 5510413 (Aug. 8, 2008), the PCHB found unlawful and set aside the 2007 iteration of the Phase I Permit because it failed to regulate stormwater runoff consistent with the MEP and AKART standards. The focus of that decision was Ecology's failure to mandate use of low impact development ("LID") techniques to prevent the generation of stormwater runoff in the first instance.³ The Board directed Ecology to amend the 2007 permit to impose LID techniques.

Ecology effectively disregarded that order. Instead, it waited until issuance of the 2012 Permit on the normal five-year permitting schedule to include LID as a requirement. CR 4983 ("2012 Permit"). Ecology released a draft of the revised Permit in November 2011 and finalized it on August 1, 2012, but delayed the effective date for a year pursuant to direction from the state legislature. RCW 90.48.260(3)(b)(i). The 2012 Permit requires each permittee to adopt and make effective a local program that meets its requirements (including various LID standards) by

³ The Permit defines LID as "a stormwater and land use management strategy that strives to mimic pre-disturbance hydrologic processes of infiltration, filtration, storage, evaporation, and transpiration by emphasizing conservation, use of on-site natural features, site planning, and distributed stormwater management practices that are integrated into a project design." 2012 Permit, Appendix 1 at 4.

June 30, 2015, almost three years after the permits were issued. 2012 Permit at 16. The local program applies to all development applications submitted after July 1, 2015, as well as applications "submitted before July 1, 2015, but that do not start construction by June 30, 2020." *Id.*⁴ That provision lies at the heart of this case.

D. <u>The Court of Appeals Overturned the PCHB's Ruling that</u> <u>Vesting Doesn't Apply to the Stormwater Permits.</u>

Snohomish County and several other entities appealed the Phase I permit to the PCHB. CR 4138. Among many other issues, appellants challenged the Permit's requirement that otherwise-vested projects that don't start construction by June of 2020 would have to meet the Permit's updated standards, including LID.

Several parties moved for summary judgment on this claim. CR 234; CR 1061, CR 1284. The PCHB granted summary judgment for Soundkeeper and Ecology, and against appellants. CR 3971 ("SJ Order"). The Board repeated its long-standing precedent that "requirements imposed by NPDES stormwater permits are not land use control

⁴ The Phase II Permit allows until December 31, 2016 for new standards, and for applications submitted before that date, the previous stormwater requirements apply as long as the projects commence construction by June 30, 2022. These timelines are extended further for a few permittees. *Id.* The Phase II appellants joined the summary judgment briefing and the Board's order encompasses both Permits. However, the Phase II appellants did not seek judicial review of that decision, so the Court of Appeals order only pertains to the Phase I permit.

ordinances that are subject to state vesting laws." *Id.* at 29. The Board reasoned that the conditions imposed by the Permit "are designed to address pollution, not to control the use of land" and that the authority to issue the permits lies in "state and federal environmental laws, not any land-use related statute." *Id.* at 30. The Board also found that the application of state vesting law "would thwart the public, and legislatively stated interest of enhanced environmental quality." *Id.* at 31. It took note that the state legislature had expressly confirmed the dates Ecology proposed for the new LID provisions of the permit, thereby indicating "legislative approval" for this position. *Id.* at 34.⁵ It later upheld the Permit in its entirety with minor changes. CR 4047 ("Final Order").

Snohomish and King Counties and an industry group sought judicial review of the Board's vesting order. Division II of the Court of Appeals granted direct review, and, in a 2-1 decision, reversed the PCHB. The majority concluded that the Permit's requirements for new and redevelopment were "land use control ordinances" subject to state vesting statutes because they exert a "restraining or directing" influence over the development of land. Decision, at 13. The majority also found that

⁵ Because it found vesting inapplicable to the Permit, the Board did not reach the argument that doing so would result in preemption of vesting law by the CWA. *Id.* at 36 n.8. However, it did observe that "applying the vested rights doctrine as requested by the Appellants would allow developments to violate the state and federal water quality laws." *Id.* at 32

applying state vesting laws to the Permit did not result in preemption under the CWA because federal law only required control to the maximum extent "practicable." In the majority's view, this meant that achievement of the Act's objectives "would occur within the framework of state law, not that it intended to preempt state law." *Id.* at 25.

One member of the panel dissented, finding first that there was no dispute that the specific technical requirements of the permit were necessary to meet the MEP standard. *Id.* at 29. Applying state vesting law to allow continued discharges of pollution that didn't achieve such standard would "frustrate the achievement" of federal law, and as such was preempted. *Id.* at 30. The dissent also found a conflict with state law. Because the LID permit standards were necessary to meet AKART, application of vesting laws would prevent that objective. And since clean water laws were the more narrow and specific of the two, and since applying vesting in this circumstance would subvert the public's interest in clean water, the vesting doctrine would have to give way.⁶ *Id.* at 31.

Soundkeeper timely seeks discretionary review of the majority opinion and reinstatement of the PCHB decision.

⁶ The dissent did not reach the question of whether vesting applied in the first instance to state and federal clean water statutes.

ARGUMENT

This Court should grant discretionary review of the majority opinion because it decided a federal constitutional question when it found that the CWA did not preempt state vesting statutes under the supremacy clause. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Discretionary review should also be granted because the application of state vesting law to state pollution statutes is "an issue of substantial public interest" and importance. RAP 13.4(b)(3). As Ecology, the PCHB, and the dissent all agreed, application of vesting laws would frustrate the public's interest in clean water and allow pollution inconsistent with state and federal goals.

I. WASHINGTON'S VESTING DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF STORMWATER PERMITS.

A. <u>Washington Vesting Law Seeks to Strike a Reasonable</u> <u>Balance Between Certainty and Public Interest</u>.

Under Washington law, building permits and proposed divisions of land are to be considered under the zoning and other "land use control ordinances" in effect at the time a "fully completed application" has been filed. RCW 58.17.033 (subdivision code); RCW 19.27.095 (building permits). Under this doctrine, "developers who file a timely and complete building permit application obtain a vested right to have their application processed according to the zoning and building ordinances in effect at the time of the application." *West Main Assocs. v. City of Bellevue*, 106 Wn.2d 47, 50-51 (1986). Where a use for property is properly disclosed in a subdivision application, all future required permits vest at that time. *See Noble Manor Co. v. Pierce Cnty.*, 133 Wn.2d 269, 278 (1997).⁷

The Washington vesting doctrine strives to balance competing objectives: on the one hand, the doctrine provides property owners some certainty. *Abbey Rd. Grp. v. City of Bonney Lake*, 167 Wn.2d 242, 251 (2009). On the other, vesting creates conflicts with public policy, and hence courts have been careful not to expand the doctrine. *Erickson & Assocs., Inc. v. McLerran*, 123 Wn.2d 864, 873 (1994) ("A proposed development which does not conform to newly adopted laws is, by definition, inimical to the public interest embodied in those laws.").

While more favorable to development interests than most jurisdictions, vesting in Washington remains a limited right. As this Court has held, "[m]unicipalities can regulate or even extinguish vested rights by exercising the police power reasonably and in furtherance of a legitimate public goal." *West Main*, 106 Wn.2d at 53. They can deny or condition vested development applications due to environmental impacts under their SEPA authority. *Polygon Corp. v. Seattle*, 90 Wn.2d 59 (1978). Because the doctrine is rooted in principles of "fundamental fairness," it cannot be

⁷ Although initially a product of common law development, vesting is now governed by statute, not common law. *Potala Village Kirkland v. Kirkland*, 334 P.3d 1143 (Div. I, 2014).

used to allow "permit speculation." Erickson, 123 Wn.2d at 874.

B. Ordinances Adopted to Comply with NPDES are Not "Land Use Control Ordinances".

The vesting statutes apply only to "zoning and land use ordinances." RCW 58.17.020; RCW 19.27.095. The PCHB concluded that stormwater programs adopted to comply with the Permit are not "land use ordinances" because they were dictated by clean water laws and serve the purpose of reducing pollution, not controlling the use of land. SJ Order at 28-36. The PCHB's analysis was correct.

The term "land use control ordinances" is not defined by statute or regulation, nor has it been the focus of close analysis by this Court. However, the context and legislative history support a narrow reading of the term. For example, the Final Legislative Report on the bill enacting RCW 58.17.033 explains that the intent of the legislation was to ensure that projects "cannot be obstructed by *new zoning ordinances or building codes.*" *Noble Manor*, 133 Wn.2d at 277 (emphasis added). Division II ruled that impact fees—although they affect the ultimate cost of development—are not subject to vesting because they do not "limit the use of land" or "resemble a zoning law." *New Castle Investments v. City of LaCenter*, 98 Wn. App. 224, 232 (Div. II, 1999).

The majority found that ordinances to comply with the Permit were

"land use ordinances" since they would exert a "restraining and directing influence" over development and would "significantly curtail how developers use their land." Decision, at 13. But this overbroad analysis fails to acknowledge this Court's more nuanced application of the vesting doctrine, and the careful balance between certainty and the public interest.

No one disputes that the use of land is implicated in meeting the environmental goals of the Permit. While there is abundant flexibility in meeting the Permit's goals, permit compliance presumably means that there are limits on what a developer can do. However, it has never been the law that anything that "affects" the use of property is a "land use control ordinance" subject to vesting. *See, e.g., New Castle Invs.*, 98 Wn. App. at 232. Indeed, interpreting it in such a way would intolerably expand the vesting doctrine beyond what the legislature intended.

As the PCHB has repeatedly found, the *purpose* of the Permit is not to control land use, it is to achieve a particular environmental result the protection of water quality standards. *See, e.g., Rosemere Neighborhood Association v. Ecology*, 2010 WL 3420570 at *8 (PCHB, Aug. 26, 2010) (Permit "does not dictate particular uses of land but requires only that, however the land is used, damage to the environment is kept within prescribed limits"); *Cox v. Ecology*, 2009 WL 542494 (PCHB, Feb 26, 2009) (stormwater permit "does not exert any restraining or

directing influence over land use, but rather applies current environmental best management control practices to the land-disturbing development of the site"). By way of comparison, air pollution standards presumably affect the height of smokestacks. That doesn't make them "land use controls," because the goal of such standards is to protect people from pollution, not dictate smokestack heights. The same is true of the Permit.

If vesting applies to any government action that ultimately has an impact on how land is used, any number of laws—for example, pollution standards, fire codes, and basic health and safety measures—could be subject to vesting. That has never been the law. *City of Seattle v. Hinkley*, 40 Wash. 468, 471 (1905) ("no such thing" as a vested right to "imperil the health or impair the safety of the community").⁸

The majority's conclusion that the Permit "would significantly curtail" how developers use their land is particularly surprising, since there was no evidence whatsoever to support it. Decision at 17.⁹ To the contrary, the Permit offers extensive flexibility in how permittees can

⁸ The majority refused to entertain the argument that stormwater regulations could be adopted under a municipality's police powers because, it claimed, Ecology did not argue it below. Decision, at 17. But Soundkeeper cited *Hinkley*, CR 1061 at 12, and even Snohomish County acknowledged that the Permit operates by requiring municipalities to use their "police powers" to reduce runoff. CR 2043 at 3.

⁹ The PCHB ruled on the vesting issue on summary judgment, prior to the development of evidence at hearing.

achieve the goals of water quality protection. It allows permittees to submit their individual draft programs to Ecology for approval (which all of them have done) as long as they offer "equal or similar" levels of environmental protection as the Permit's technical standards. Permit at 15. The standards themselves offer flexibility at the development stage to choose whatever approach is consistent with the project. For example, developers can design projects to meet a downstream LID "flow control" standard through any combination of techniques they want. Alternatively, they can choose from a menu of LID approaches. Permit App. 1 § 4.5. The Permit's primary focus is on the result, not the way land is used.

The majority relied on dicta in *Westside Bus. Park v. Pierce Cnty.*, 100 Wn. App. 599 (Div. II, 2000), stating that stormwater controls are "land use ordinances." But that case neither controlled nor was it even particularly informative. The "only issue" in that case was whether a "bare bones" short plat application that didn't disclose the intended use of the site vested the storm drainage regulations in effect at the time of the application. *Id.* at 602. The controversy concerned the adequacy of the short plat application to invoke vesting, not the nature of the drainage regulations themselves. *Id.*¹⁰ The PCHB correctly found that the

¹⁰ Moreover, the *Westside Bus. Park* court sidestepped the question of whether applying vesting to federal law would raise preemption concerns.

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