RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 18, 2016, 3:55 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK RECEIVED B MAIL

Case No. 92805-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, KING COUNTY, and BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF CLARK COUNTY

Respondents,

vs.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE, WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, ROSEMERE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION

Petitioners,

and

POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD Respondent Below

SNOHOMISH COUNTY'S ANSWER TO STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S AND PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE, WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, AND ROSEMERE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION'S PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

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

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals correctly resolved the issues presented for review by Ecology and PSA. Petitioners fail to demonstrate the need for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Petitions should be denied.

## A. The Decision Did Not Expand Vesting and the Petitions Do Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined by This Court

Both Ecology and PSA contend that the Decision expanded the vesting doctrine and that, because of this, an issue of significant public interest is presented for this Court's resolution under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petitioners are mistaken. The Decision did not expand vesting and review by this Court is not warranted. The analysis here must be informed by the manner in which the Court of Appeals resolved the underlying issue in this case. Because the Court of Appeals correctly resolved the issue raised by Petitioners in a well-reasoned decision within the bounds of existing precedent, the Petitions do not involve an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review by this Court.<sup>16</sup> The Decision did not expand vesting under RCW 19.27.095, RCW 58.17.033, or RCW 36.70B.180.

Petitioners' expansion argument is unconvincing for a number of reasons.

First, the Decision is firmly in line with controlling precedent.

The Court of Appeals carefully examined relevant case law,<sup>17</sup> applied the definition for the phrase "land use control ordinance" adopted by the courts,<sup>18</sup> and determined that the stormwater drainage regulations at issue here, which must be enforced for site and subdivision scale development projects, are subject to vesting under RCW 19.27.095 and RCW

<sup>58.17.033,</sup> consistent with stormwater drainage regulations previously

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The parties sought, and the Court of Appeals granted, direct review under RCW 34.05.518. The question before this Court now is whether "*the petition* involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4) (emphasis added). The prior request for, and the Court of Appeals' acceptance of, direct review is not determinative. If they were, any decision accepted for direct review under the Administrative Procedure Act would automatically warrant review by this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Westside Business Park, LLC v. Pierce County, 100 Wn. App. 599, 5 P.3d 713, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1023 (2000); New Castle Investments v. City of LaCenter, 98 Wn. App. 224, 989 P.2d 569 (1999), review denied, 140 Wn.2d 1019 (2000); Phillips v. King County, 136 Wn.2d 946, 968 P.2d 871 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See New Castle, 98 Wn. App. at 237; see also Graham Neighborhood Ass 'n v. F.G. Associates, 162 Wn. App. 98, 115, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1024 (2011).

examined by the courts.<sup>19</sup> The Court of Appeals further concluded that the regulations a Phase I permittee must adopt and enforce for site and subdivision scale development projects are also "development standard[s] or regulation[s]" as contemplated in RCW 36.70B.180 based on the plain language of the statute. Those conclusions are not an expansion of statutory vesting and Petitioners do not cite any cases that compel a different conclusion.<sup>20</sup>

Petitioners' contention that the purpose of a regulation, rather than the test announced in *New Castle*, controls whether it is subject to statutory vesting was appropriately rejected by the Court of Appeals. Petitioners fail to cite any authority in support of the novel proposition that the purpose of a regulation is dispositive and RCW 19.27.095, RCW 58.17.033, RCW 36.70B.180 and *New Castle* make no allowance for this "purpose only" analysis. If the legislature had intended to create an exception for regulations that further a specific purpose it could have done so. It did not. And the Court of Appeals pointed to numerous instances in which a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See Westside, 100 Wn.App. at 607; Phillips, 136 Wn.2d at 963.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ecology suggests that because it determines the types of stormwater drainage regulations that Phase I permittees must adopt, statutory vesting does not apply. First, whether Ecology directs a local jurisdiction to adopt particular stormwater drainage regulations makes no difference as to how those regulations impact the use of land relevant to the *New Castle* inquiry. Second, the Court of Appeals efficiently disposed of this line of reasoning when it distinguished *Citizens for Rational Shoreline Planning v. Whatcom County*, 172 Wn.2d 384, 258 P.3d 36 (2011), and observed that Ecology "cited no authority holding that the vested rights statutes do not apply to local regulations that are state mandated." Decision at 16.

regulation serving an environmental purpose was subject to vesting.<sup>21</sup> The Decision is firmly in line with controlling precedent.

Second, there is no legislative intent to exclude these stormwater drainage regulations from the application of statutory vesting. Petitioners argue that this Court should infer intent to override vesting in the Phase I Permit from a statute concerning the Phase II Permit<sup>22</sup> that does not mention vesting at all – RCW 90.48.260(3)(b)(i).<sup>23</sup> But what that statute provides is that two different provisions of the Phase II Permit must be implemented simultaneously and not before a certain date. It says nothing about curtailing the application of statutory vesting generally or in relation to Phase I Permit stormwater drainage regulations specifically. And if Ecology thought that RCW 90.48.260(3)(b)(i) was direction to disregard vesting, one has to ask why Ecology then ignored that direction and built in a five year period for development projects vested to older regulations to start construction to avoid the application of the new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See Decision at 14 ("Nothing in Washington case law suggests that simply characterizing a land use control ordinance as an environmental ordinance limits the application of the vested rights doctrine").

See Ecology's Petition for Review at 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> RCW 90.48.260(3)(b)(i) provides:

Provisions of the updated permit issued under (b) of this subsection relating to new requirements for low-impact development and review and revision of local development codes, rules, standards, or other enforceable documents to incorporate low-impact development principles must be implemented simultaneously. These requirements may go into effect no earlier than December 31, 2016, or the time of the scheduled update under RCW 36.70A.130(5), as existing on July 10, 2012, whichever is later.

stormwater drainage regulations so as to be "consistent with the accepted State approach to vesting."<sup>24</sup> Petitioners' assertion that RCW 90.48.260(3)(b)(i) evidences a Legislative directive to disregard vesting is unpersuasive.

Petitioners also contend that this Court should find legislative intent to exclude stormwater drainage regulations from statutory vesting in the Legislature's failure to affirmatively define these stormwater drainage regulations as subject to vesting. This assertion is contrary to the plain language of RCW 19.27.095, RCW 58.17.033, and RCW 36.70B.180, which provide that if a regulation is a "development standard or regulation" or a "land use control ordinance," then statutory vesting applies. Further, "the Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretation of its enactments and where statutory language remains unchanged after a court decision, the court will not overrule clear precedent interpreting the same statutory language."<sup>25</sup> If legislative silence means anything in this situation, it is that the Legislature found no fault with the decisions in *Westside* and *Phillips*, which control the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Ecology's Response to Comments on the Municipal Stormwater Permits, dated August 1, 2012, as attached to the Declaration of Bill Moore. CABR at 001274 ("Ecology's permit requirements are consistent with the accepted State approach to vesting. ... Five years to begin construction is generally consistent with state vesting requirements.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 147, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) (quoting Friends of Snoqualmie Valley v. King County Boundary Review Bd., 118 Wn.2d 488, 496-97, 825 P.2d 300 (1992)) (internal quotes omitted).

outcome here. The Washington legislature did not provide Ecology with express or implied authority to compel Phase I permittees to act contrary to clear statutory mandates found elsewhere in the Revised Code of Washington and it is not reasonable or consistent with the requirement to harmonize statutes to read RCW 90.48.260 in that manner.<sup>26</sup> Petitioners do not demonstrate legislative intent to depart from the thorough and well-reasoned conclusion reached by the Court of Appeals regarding the application of statutory vesting to stornwater drainage regulations.

The Court of Appeals did not expand the vesting doctrine and no review is warranted by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

## B. The Decision Correctly Found No Preemption and the Petitions Do Not Identify a Significant Question of Law Under the U.S. Constitution

Petitioners next contend that the Court of Appeals improperly

applied the Supremacy Clause when it held that the CWA does not

preempt state statutory vesting. Petitioners did not meet their heavy

burden of proving preemption before the Court of Appeals.<sup>27</sup> No

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> "The construction of two statutes shall be made with the assumption that the Legislature does not intend to create an inconsistency. Statutes are to be read together, whenever possible, to achieve a 'harmonious total statutory scheme... which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." *State ex rel. Peninsula Neighborhood Ass 'n v. Washington State Dept. of Transp.*, 142 Wn.2d 328, 342, 12 P.3d 134 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Stevedoring Services of America, Inc., v. Eggert, 129 Wn.2d 17, 24, 914 P.2d 737 (1996) ("There is a strong presumption against preemption and 'state laws are not superseded by federal law unless that is the clear and manifest purpose of Congress."").

significant question of law under the United States Constitution is presented and this Court should decline review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

First, Petitioners fail to identify any direct conflict between the CWA and statutory vesting. The second sentence of Special Condition S5.C.5.a.iii is not part of the CWA, nor is it required by it. Instead, the provision is a permit requirement written by Ecology in its attempt to interpret and implement the CWA's mandate to reduce the discharge of pollutants to "the maximum extent practicable."<sup>28</sup> Nothing in the plain language of the CWA addresses applications for land development permits, vested property rights or dates by which property owners must start construction of their development projects. These requirements of the Phase I Permit simply are not contained in or mandated by the CWA.<sup>29</sup>

Second, Petitioners fail to demonstrate that statutory vesting is an obstacle to the CWA objectives. Petitioners contend that state law has no bearing on what is practicable, despite the federal-state partnership that Congress established to implement the CWA.<sup>30</sup> Courts have held that the

<sup>28 33</sup> USC § 1342(p)(3)(B)(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> This is not the situation presented in *Northern Plains Resource Council v. Fidelity Exploration and Development Co.*, 325 F.3d 1155 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), cited by PSA, wherein Montana attempted to exempt from the requirement to get an NPDES permit a class of dischargers that were obligated, under the plain language of the CWA, to get a permit. The court held that a state cannot create exemptions to the requirement to get an NPDES permit under the CWA. Here, the CWA does not direct the outcome sought by Ecology and PSA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> PUD No. 1 of Jefferson County v. Washington Dept. of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700, 703-04, 114 S.Ct. 1900 (1994) (discussing the different roles assigned to federal and state

term "maximum extent practicable" was intended by Congress to create a more flexible type of NPDES permit for MS4s, in recognition of the complex nature of MS4s and the difficulty of addressing polluted stormwater.<sup>31</sup> Ecology itself recognized the need for this flexibility by building into Special Condition S5.C.5.a.iii a five year period for development projects vested to older regulations to start construction to avoid the application of the new stormwater drainage regulations required in the Phase 1 Permit. Neither Ecology nor PSA explain why this five year allowance is practicable and does not frustrate the objectives of Congress under the CWA but simply aligning the second sentence of Special Condition S5.C.5.a.iii with state statutes governing those projects – the only approach that harmonizes the relevant statutes – triggers preemption. Further, courts must reject administrative constructions of a statute that are inconsistent with the statutory mandate or that frustrate legislative policy.<sup>32</sup> Here, that statutory mandate and policy provides that state laws

agencies under the CWA); City of Abilene v. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 325 F.3d 657, 659 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003) (quoting Arkansas v. Oklahoma, 503 U.S. 91, 101, 112 S.Ct. 1046 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> City of Abilene, 325 F.3d at 659-660; Defenders of Wildlife v. Browner, 191 F.3d 1159, 1164-66 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> State of Nev. ex rel. Loux v. Herrington, 777 F.2d 529, 531 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985). As the U.S. Supreme Court has cautioned, "[r]egardless of how serious the problem an administrative agency seeks to address...it may not exercise its authority in a manner that is inconsistent with the administrative structure that Congress enacted into law." Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. at 125 (citation omitted).

continue to govern the use and development of land. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(b) reads in pertinent part (emphasis added):

It is the policy of the Congress to *recognize*, *preserve*, *and protect the primary responsibilities and rights of States* to prevent, reduce, and eliminate pollution, *to plan the development and use* (including restoration, preservation, and enhancement) *of land* and water resources, and to consult with the Administrator in the exercise of his authority under this chapter.

Third, the cases cited by PSA are either distinguishable or support the conclusion reached in the Decision. *Rybachek v. U.S. EPA*, 904 F.2d 1276 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990) is not a municipal NPDES permit case and did not consider the phrase "maximum extent practicable." The court in *Rybachek* examined whether the requirement for settling ponds "are the best practicable control technology currently available (BPT) within the placer mining industry."<sup>33</sup> Whether a technology is BPT required analysis of: (1) the total cost of the technology in relation to effluent reduction benefits; (2) the age of equipment; (3) engineering aspects; (4) non-water quality environmental impacts; and (5) other factors as deemed appropriate.<sup>34</sup> PSA's quotation from *Defenders of Wildlife v. Babbitt*, 130 F.Supp.2d 121 (2001), which examined the phrase "maximum extent practicable" in the context of the Endangered Species Act, supports the Decision. Ecology does not have unbridled discretion in determining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> *Rybachek*, 904 F.2d at 1289.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Id.

MEP. Ecology has a duty to impose standards "to the extent that it is feasible or possible."<sup>35</sup> As the Court of Appeals reasonably determined, it is not feasible, possible, or practicable for a Phase I permittee to be compelled by its Phase I Permit to regulate real property development in its jurisdiction contrary to state law governing that development.

No significant question of law under the United States Constitution is presented and this Court should decline review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

#### VI. ADDITIONAL ISSUE – FINALITY

The issues identified by Petitioners do not merit review by this Court and review should be denied. Should this Court accept review, however, Snohomish County asks it to consider the additional basis in support of the Decision that the Court of Appeals did not reach, consistent with RAP 13.7(b). This additional issue concerns the land use doctrine of finality.<sup>36</sup>

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